STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA
IN THE COURT OF APPEALS

Appeal from Aiken County

Honorable R. Lawton McIntosh, Circuit Court Judge

THE STATE,

RESPONDENT,

V.

KELVIN JONES,

APPELLANT

APPELLATE CASE NO 2016-001835

FINAL BRIEF OF APPELLANT

RECEIVED

OCT 05 2018

SC Court of Appeals

KATHRINE H. HUDGINS
Appellate Defender

South Carolina Commission on Indigent Defense
Division of Appellate Defense
PO Box 11589
Columbia, SC 29211-1589
(803) 734-1330

ATTORNEY FOR APPELLANT

STATEMENT OF ISSUES ON APPEAL

1. Did the court err in refusing to suppress drugs seized as the result of a search warrant lacking probable cause?
2. Did the trial judge err in allowing testimony that indicated law enforcement had prior knowledge of Appellant?
3. Did the trial judge err in qualifying an investigator as an expert in cocaine valuation and how cocaine is packaged and sold?
4. Did the trial judge err in failing to grant a new trial based on the State's refusal to provide Appellant with a copy of a complaint filed against the detective who obtained and executed the search warrant?

STATEMENT OF THE CASE

In January of 2012 the Aiken County Grand Jury indicted Appellant, Kelvin Jones, for trafficking cocaine, possession with intent to distribute cocaine within proximity of a park and possession of ecstasy, indictments #2012-GS-02-132, 133, 134. In 2014, the State obtained superseding indictment #2014-GS-02-1182 for trafficking cocaine. On August 11, 2014, Appellant appeared before the Honorable Edgar Dickson and moved for a change of venue and moved to suppress drugs seized. Mario Pacella, Alexandra Benevento and Bakari Sellers represented Appellant at the hearing. The case was prosecuted the South Carolina Attorney General's office because of a conflict. Solicitor Strom Thurmond, Jr. and another lawyer from the Second Circuit Solicitor's Office were doing a "ride along" with law enforcement when the search warrant in the present case was executed. Judge Dickson granted the change of venue motion but denied the motion to suppress. (R. p. 10, Order Denying Defendant's Motion to Suppress in Stipulation).

On February 17, 2015, Appellant pled guilty to the possession of ecstasy charge, indictment #2012-GS-02-134, and proceeded to jury trial for the trafficking and proximity charges, indictments #2014-GS-02-1182 and #2012-GS-02-133. Both the plea and the trial took place in Dorchester County before the Honorable R. Lawton McIntosh. Alexandra Benevento and Bakari Sellers represented Appellant at the plea and trial. Megan Burchstead and Michael Ross, both of the South Carolina Attorney General's Office, represented the State. The jury returned verdicts of guilty and Judge McIntosh sentenced Appellant to twenty-five (25) years for trafficking, ten (10) years concurrent for the proximity charge, and one year concurrent for the ecstasy charge.

On February 24, 2015, Appellant timely filed a timely notice of intent to appeal. On February 26, 2015, two days after the notice of intent to appeal was filed, Judge McIntosh contacted Appellant's trial counsel, Bakari Sellers, along with Assistant Attorney General Michael Ross and disclosed to the parties that it had come to his attention that the BEST bag containing the cocaine had been opened during jury deliberations. (R. p. 470-493; R. p. 494). On that same day, defense counsel Sellers filed a motion for a mistrial based on the information disclosed by Judge McIntosh and requested a hearing on the matter.

On April 16, 2015, a hearing was held before Judge McIntosh on Appellant's motion for a mistrial. After hearing from the parties, Judge McIntosh ultimately issued a written order filed June 15, 2015. In his order, Judge McIntosh found there was "a need to further investigate the extent of any actions on the part of the jurors which led to the opening of the 'BEST Kit' containing the drug evidence in this case." The judge indicated that "[s]uch investigation is necessary to determine whether there was any improper influence upon the jurors, or whether there was any resulting prejudice to the defendant." The judge ordered that a qualified individual at SLED examine the drug evidence to determine whether the evidence was accessed, handled, or tampered with by the jury during its deliberations. The judge further ordered that SLED report its findings concerning the drug evidence to the court as soon as such findings became available. (R. p. 494).

On September 18, 2015, Appellant moved to dismiss the direct appeal without prejudice pending the SLED investigation and a ruling on Appellant's motion for a mistrial. On November 25, 2015, the South Carolina Court of Appeals dismissed the appeal without prejudice to allow Judge McIntosh to rule on the post-trial motion. (R. p. 497). On April 4, 2016, Appellant filed a

motion for a new trial based on the State's failure to disclose that a complaint had been filed against the detective who obtained and executed the search warrant. (R. p. 498).

On July 6, 2016, Judge McIntosh held a hearing in Anderson County on the two outstanding motions. In regard to the drug evidence, Judge McIntosh requested that SLED reweigh the drugs. In regard to the non-disclosed complaint, the judge asked for briefs from both sides. In an order signed July 22, 2016, Judge McIntosh denied both motions. (R. p. 550). A motion for relief from judgment was filed on August 16, 2016, and denied on August 25, 2016. A timely notice of intent to appeal was served on September 2, 2016. This appeal follows.

ARGUMENTS

1. The court erred in refusing to suppress drugs seized as the result of a search warrant lacking probable cause.

On April 19, 2011, Detective John C. Medlin of the Aiken Department of Public Safety requested from a magistrate a search warrant for a residence located at 462 Morgan Street NW, in Aiken, South Carolina. The affidavit in support of the search warrant in the case was based in large part on a trash pull. The affidavit provides:

Det. Sawyer received complaints of short-term traffic at 462 Morgan St NW that is consistent with the sale of narcotics. On April 18, 2011 Det. Medlin coordinated with Bill Martin, Solid Waste Supervisor with the Aiken Department of Public Works, to collect trash from 462 Morgan St NW. Mr. Martin did so on Monday, April 18, 2011, which is the normal trash collection day for that residence. Mr. Martin found the can and contents at the curb beside the driveway in a manner consistent with the trash being ready for collection. Mr. Martin brought the can and the contents to Det. Medlin at the ADPS headquarters. Det. Medlin and Det. Sawyer searched the contents of the can and found the following items: 1 – the burnt remains of a cigar that contained a green leafy material believed to be marijuana; 2-numerous twisted and torn baggies (indicating the packaging of marijuana for resale); 3 – empty cigar tube wrappers; 4 – cigars that had been torn open to remove the tobacco (a common tactic for smoking marijuana covertly); 5 – mail addressed to 462 Morgan St. NW Aiken SC. Based on my experience and training, the items listed indicate the use and repackaging of narcotics for resale. Detective Royster, a certified marijuana analyst, tested the plant material found in the trash and confirmed it to be marijuana. This officer verily believes that probable cause exists as to the presence of narcotics at this residence. See Attachment B for photographs of the items found. (Exhibit #3 attached).

(R. p. 563). The affidavit was not supplemented with sworn verbal testimony. (R. p. 563).

On April 21, 2011, officers with the Aiken Department of Public Safety, including Detective Medlin and Captain Sawyer, executed the search warrant. According to Captain Sawyer, prior to entering the house, he observed Appellant enter the house carrying a blue sling backpack. (R. p. 117, lines 13-22). Officers entered the house five to seven minutes later. (R. p. 156, lines 16-20). Once inside the house officers found Ricky Lloyd in the bathroom attempting to flush a white powder substance. (R. p. 247, lines 10-21). Lloyd also had cash and scales. (R. p. 247, lines 23-25). Officers found Appellant in the kitchen. (R. p. 248, lines 1-7). Captain Sawyer admitted that there were four to five other adults and a few juveniles in the house when the officers entered. (R. p. 157, lines 11-20). In another room under a couch Detective Medlin found a handgun, a pickle jar with a green leafy substance in it, cash and a blue string bag. (R. p. 227, line 17 – p. 228, lines 1-12). Inside the blue string bag officers found three ziplock bags with a white powder material and a set of scales. (R. p. 228, lines 13-19). According to Captain Sawyer, Appellant was wearing this blue sling bag earlier. (R. p. 140, lines 7-10). The room where officers found the white powder substance under the couch was closer to the bathroom where they found Lloyd than the kitchen where they found Appellant. (R. p. 160, lines 21-25).

Prior to trial, on August 11, 2014, Appellant submitted a written motion to suppress. (R. p. 1). On that same day the Honorable Edgar Dickson heard the motion to suppress as well as a motion for change of venue. Judge Dickson granted the change of venue motion but, in a written order, denied the motion to suppress. (R. p. 10, Written Order Denying Motion to Suppress). A portion of the August 11, 2014, hearing was produced and made a part of the record on appeal. (R. p. 14-27). The portion of the transcript dealing with the suppression motion, however was not available. (R. p. 560-561, Official Letter from Court Reporter). For

purposes of the appeal, the parties stipulated as to the arguments made at the suppression hearing. (R. p. 562). The stipulation included nine agreed points, the written motion to suppress as exhibit #1, the search warrant, affidavit in support and attached exhibits, as exhibit #2 and Judge Dickson's written motion denying the motion to suppress as exhibit. #3. (R. p. 562-586).

Appellant argued that the affidavit in support of the search warrant lacked probable cause. First, the affidavit failed to establish the reliability of the complaints received by Captain Sawyer. (R. p. 3-5). The affidavit failed to indicate the basis for any conclusion that the complaints of short-term traffic were consistent with narcotics sales. (R. p. 5). The affidavit failed to provide a time frame in regard to the short-term traffic. (R. p. 5). Second, the items recovered from the single trash pull did not provide probable cause to believe that narcotics would be found inside the house. (R. p. 5-8). Additionally, Appellant argued that the good faith exception to the requirement of a warrant based on probable cause did not apply. (R. p. 8-9).

The judge denied the motion to suppress writing, "Although the reliability of the tipsters was never established, the officers corroborated the tip by finding twisted, torn baggies and the remnants of marijuana cigars in the trash. See State v. Rutledge, 644 S.E.2d 789 (Ct.App. 2007)(Finding probable cause for search warrant where a trash pull corroborated a tip). Therefore, probable cause existed for the magistrate to issue the warrant." (R. p. 10-12). The judge erred.

The trial was held six months later on February 17, 2015, before a different judge, the Honorable R. Lawton McIntosh. Judge McIntosh was aware of the previous order by Judge Dickson denying the motion to suppress. (R. p. 37, lines 1-8). Appellant renewed the objection to the order denying the motion to suppress. (R. p. 37, lines 11-15). Appellant again renewed the objection to the evidence and the motion to suppress prior to opening statements. (R. p. 82,

line 16 – p. 83, lines 1-7). The judge ruled, “All right. Very Good. I note that objection. The ruling will stand as is.” (R. p. 83, lines 8-9). When the State moved to admit the drugs in evidence as State’s Exhibit #22, Appellant did not object. (R. p. 286, lines 8-13). Appellant renewed the objection at the close of the State’s case. (R. p. 344, lines 12-17). The issue is preserved for appellate review even though Appellant did not object when the drugs were admitted. Judge Dickson’s ruling on the motion to suppress was a final ruling. Judge McIntosh did not hear the motion to suppress and would not have changed Judge Dickson’s ruling without hearing the motion.

In State v. Atieh, 397 S.C. 641, 646–47, 725 S.E.2d 730, 733 (Ct. App. 2012), the South Carolina Court of Appeals wrote:

A ruling in limine is not final; unless an objection is made at the time the evidence is offered and a final ruling procured, the issue is not preserved for review. See State v. Wannamaker, 346 S.C. 495, 499, 552 S.E.2d 284, 286 (2001). An exception to this rule is when the motion in limine is made “immediately prior to the introduction of the evidence in question.” State v. Forrester, 343 S.C. 637, 642, 541 S.E.2d 837, 840 (2001). The South Carolina Supreme Court expanded this exception in State v. Wiles,¹ holding that even when the evidence does not immediately follow the motion in limine, if the trial court clearly indicates its ruling is final, rather than preliminary, the issue is preserved for appellate review. 383 S.C. 151, 157, 679 S.E.2d 172, 175 (2009). In Wiles, the trial court had commented to the jury about the evidence that was the subject of the motion in limine before any evidence was admitted.Id.

The issue is preserved for appellate review.

“On appeals from a motion to suppress based on Fourth Amendment grounds, ... this Court [the appellate court] reviews questions of law de novo.” State v. Adams, 409 S.C. 641, 647, 763 S.E.2d 341, 344 (2014). As to a circuit court’s finding of fact, we must affirm ‘if there is any evidence to support it,’ and “may reverse only for clear

¹ 383 S.C. 151, 679 S.E.2d 172 (2009).

error.’ State v. Brown, 401 S.C. 82, 87, 736 S.E.2d 263, 265 (2012).” State v. Bash, 419 S.C. 263, 268, 797 S.E.2d 721, 723–24 (2017).

In State v. Kinloch, 410 S.C. 612, 616–17, 767 S.E.2d 153, 155 (2014)(fn #4 omitted), the South Carolina Supreme Court wrote:

The Fourth Amendment protects against unreasonable searches and seizures. U.S. Const. amend. IV. A search or seizure does not violate the Fourth Amendment if it is authorized by a warrant that is supported by probable cause. Id.; see State v. Baccus, 367 S.C. 41, 50, 625 S.E.2d 216, 221 (2006), cert. denied, 555 U.S. 1074, 129 S.Ct. 733, 172 L.Ed.2d 735 (2008). A warrant is supported by probable cause if, given the totality of the circumstances set forth in the affidavit, there is a fair probability that contraband or evidence of a crime will be found in a particular place. Baccus, 367 S.C. at 50, 625 S.E.2d at 221 (citing Illinois v. Gates, 462 U.S. 213, 238, 103 S.Ct. 2317, 76 L.Ed.2d 527 (1983)).

“When reviewing a magistrate's decision to issue a search warrant, we must consider the totality of the circumstances. See State v. Missouri, 337 S.C. 548, 524 S.E.2d 394 (1999)(citing Illinois v. Gates, 462 U.S. 213, 103 S.Ct. 2317, 76 L.Ed.2d 527 (1983)). Although great deference must be given to a magistrate's conclusions, a magistrate may only issue a search warrant upon a finding of probable cause. See State v. Bellamy, 336 S.C. 140, 519 S.E.2d 347 (1999).” State v. Jones, 342 S.C. 121, 126, 536 S.E.2d 675, 678 (2000)(fn #1 omitted).

In State v. Bellamy, 336 S.C. 140, 143–44, 519 S.E.2d 347, 348–49 (1999)(fn #1 omitted), the South Carolina Supreme Court wrote:

In Illinois v. Gates, 462 U.S. 213, 238, 103 S.Ct. 2317, 2332, 76 L.Ed.2d 527, 548 (1983), the United States Supreme Court adopted a “totality-of-the-circumstances” test for probable cause determinations:

The task of the issuing magistrate is simply to make a practical, common-sense decision whether, given all the circumstances set forth in the affidavit before him, including the “veracity” and “basis of knowledge” of persons supplying hearsay information, there is a fair probability that contraband or evidence of a crime will be found in a particular place. See also State v. Williams, 297 S.C. 404, 377 S.E.2d 308 (1989). Gates departed from the strict two-prong approach of Aguilar v. Texas, 378 U.S. 108, 84 S.Ct. 1509, 12 L.Ed.2d 723 (1964) and Spinelli v. United States, 393 U.S. 410, 89 S.Ct. 584, 21 L.Ed.2d 637

(1969). Aguilar and Spinelli required that separate findings be made of the informant's veracity or reliability and his basis of knowledge. The Supreme Court wrote in *Gates* that it did not agree with the lower court's reasoning that the *Aguilar-Spinelli* elements should be construed as entirely separate and independent requirements to be rigidly exacted in every case. Rather, "they should be understood simply as closely intertwined issues that may usefully illuminate the commonsense, practical question whether there is 'probable cause' to believe that contraband or evidence is located in a particular place." Gates, 462 U.S. at 230, 103 S.Ct. at 2328, 76 L.Ed.2d at 543. These are "relevant considerations in the totality-of-the-circumstances analysis." *Id.* at 233, 103 S.Ct. at 2329, 76 L.Ed.2d at 545. Gates went on to declare that a deficiency in one of the elements may be compensated for, in determining the overall reliability of a tip, by a strong showing as to the other, or by some other indicia of reliability. *Id.*

"An affidavit must contain sufficient underlying facts and information upon which a magistrate may make a determination of probable cause. State v. Viard, 276 S.C. 147, 276 S.E.2d 531 (1981). Mere conclusory statements which give the magistrate no basis to make a judgment regarding probable cause are insufficient. "[H]is action cannot be a mere ratification of the bare conclusions of others." Illinois v. Gates, 462 U.S. 213, 239, 103 S.Ct. 2317, 2333, 76 L.Ed.2d 527, 549 (1983)." State v. Smith, 301 S.C. 371, 373, 392 S.E.2d 182, 183 (1990).

Considering the totality of the circumstances, the affidavit failed to provide probable cause to believe that narcotics would be found in the house. The affidavit failed to establish the veracity or reliability of the complaints of short-term traffic. The affidavit failed to establish a basis of knowledge of short-term traffic. It is unclear if the complaints were made confidentially or anonymously. The affidavit failed to provide a time frame in regard to alleged short-term traffic. The affidavit failed to establish how short-term traffic was consistent with narcotics sales. Instead, the affidavit provided that Detective Sawyer received complaints of short-term traffic that is consistent with the sale of narcotics, a conclusory statement that gave the magistrate no basis to make a judgment regarding probable cause.

The remaining information contained in the affidavit involved items discovered during the single trash pull on April 18, 2011. The items found were listed in the affidavit as follows:

- 1 – the burnt remains of a cigar that contained a green leafy material believed to be marijuana;
- 2-numerous twisted and torn baggies (indicating the packaging of marijuana for resale);
- 3 – empty cigar tube wrappers;
- 4 – cigars that had been torn open to remove the tobacco (a common tactic for smoking marijuana covertly;)
- 5 – mail addressed to 462 Morgan St. NW Aiken SC.

Based on my experience and training, the items listed indicate the use and repackaging of narcotics for resale. Detective Royster, a certified marijuana analyst, tested the plant material found in the trash and confirmed it to be marijuana. This officer verily believes that probable cause exists as to the presence of narcotics at this residence.

(R. p. 563)

The evidence found in the single trash pull failed to suggest a pattern of continuous drug activity and failed to support a reasonable conclusion that additional contraband would be found in the house. State v. Rutledge, 373 S.C. 312, 644 S.E.2d 789 (Ct.App. 2007), the case relied upon by the judge in his written order denying the motion to suppress, is distinguished from the present case. In Rutledge the affidavit provided the following information:

The affiant has received information that William Rutledge and two other subjects only known as Steve and Richie are selling marijuana from 162 Bailey Ave., Rock Hill, South Carolina. Within the past 72 hours officers of the YCMDEU conducted a narcotics investigation focused on 162 Bailey Ave., Rock Hill, SC. As a result of this investigation, officers recovered marijuana, marijuana seeds and marijuana stalks from 162 Bailey Ave. A Criminal Records check of William Rutledge found that Rutledge has prior convictions for marijuana. Officers of the YCMDEU confirmed through Rock Hill Utilities that William Rutledge is drawing power at 162 Bailey Ave.

Rutledge, 373 S.C. at 315, 644 S.E.2d at 790. The confidential informant in Rutledge provided specific information about the crime being committed and the names of the people involved in the crime. The anonymous or confidential tip in the present case did not provide information

about a crime at all, simply short-term traffic. Additionally the tip in the present case did not provide names of the people involved. The affidavit in Rutledge also included information linking the defendant to the residence and providing the defendant's prior criminal record involving marijuana. No such information was provided in the affidavit in the present case.

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