STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA
In The Court of Appeals

ORIGINAL

APPEAL FROM AIKEN COUNTY

Court of General Sessions

The Honorable R. Lawton McIntosh, Circuit Court Judge
Lower Court Case No: 2014-GS-02-01182; 2012-GS-02-00133;

Appellate Case No. 2016-001835

RECEIVED

OCT 15 2018

SC Court of Appeals

THE STATE,

Respondent,

v.

KELVIN JONES,

Appellant.

FINAL BRIEF OF RESPONDENT

ALAN WILSON
Attorney General

J. CLAYTON MITCHELL
Assistant Attorney General
SC Bar #101443

Post Office Box 11549
Columbia, SC 29211
(803) 734-3737

ATTORNEYS FOR RESPONDENT

STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA
In The Court of Appeals

APPEAL FROM AIKEN COUNTY

Court of General Sessions

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

ARGUMENT

I.

Appellant failed to preserve any objection to the admission of the cocaine by expressly waiving the objection when the cocaine was admitted.

Appellant argues the search warrant issued to search the residence located at 462 Morgan Street NW, Aiken, South Carolina lacked sufficient probable cause to believe that narcotics would be found in the house. This issue has been waived by Appellant because defense counsel expressly stated he had no objection to the introduction of the drugs. (R. p. 286). Regardless, the fact that the house had many short term visitors combined with the fact that drug paraphernalia and items commonly associated with drug dealing were recovered in the house's trash can, is certainly sufficient to justify the issuance of the search warrant for the residence.

How the Issue was Raised Below

Appellant filed a motion to suppress the drugs arguing that the search warrant lacked sufficient probable cause. (R. p. 1-9). A hearing on that motion was held before the Honorable Edgar W. Dickson on August 11, 2014. A transcript of that hearing is not available. (R. p. 560-61). In lieu of convening a reconstruction hearing, the parties have agreed to stipulate to a few points pertaining to the motion to suppress hearing. (R. p. 562-64). At the hearing, Appellant argued the search warrant affidavit lacked sufficient probable cause. Specifically, he argued the affidavit was deficient because it failed to "demonstrate the reliability factors of Detective Sawyer's sources." (R. p. 3).

The supporting affidavit presented to the magistrate was as follows:

Det. Sawyer received complaints of short-term traffic at 462 Morgan St. NW that is consistent with the sale of narcotics. On April 18, 2011 Det. Medlin coordinated with Bill Martin, Solid Waste Supervisor with the Aiken Department of Public Works, to collect the trash from 462 Morgan St. NW. Mr. Martin did so on Monday, April 18, 2011, which is the normal trash collection day for that

residence. Mr. Martin found the can and contents at the curb beside the driveway in a manner consistent with the trash being ready for collection. Mr. Martin brought the can and contents to Det. Medlin at ADPS headquarters. Det. Medlin and Det. Sawyer searched the contents of the can and found the following items: 1-the burnt remains of a cigar that contained a green leafy material believed to be marijuana; 2-numerous twisted and torn baggies (indicating the packaging of marijuana for resale); 3-empty cigar tube wrappers; 4-cigars that had been torn open to remove the tobacco (a common tactic for smoking marijuana covertly); 5-mail address to 462 Morgan St NW Aiken, SC. Based on my experience and training, the items listed indicate the use and repackaging of narcotics for resale. Detective Royster, a certified marijuana analyst, tested the plant material found in the trash and confirmed it to be marijuana. This officer verily believes that probable cause exists as to the presence of narcotics at this residence. See Attachment B for photographs of the items found.

(R. p. 596-601). Judge Dickson issued an order denying the motion to suppress dated October 20, 2014. The order found, “Although the reliability of the tipsters was never established, the officers corroborated the tip by finding twisted, torn baggies and the remnants of marijuana cigars in the trash.” (R. p. 11).

At trial, Appellant attempted to renew his motion to suppress before the trial began. (R. p. 82-83.)² The objection was overruled. (R. p. 83). When the drugs were introduced to evidence, Appellant stated that he had, “No objection, Your Honor.” (R. p. 286).

Discussion

A. Preservation

In South Carolina, issue preservation requirements are a fundamental component of appellate procedure. Gaddy v. Douglass, 359 S.C. 329, 350, 597 S.E.2d 12, 23 (Ct. App. 2004). For an issue to be properly preserved for appellate review, there must be a contemporaneous objection that is ruled upon by the trial court. State v. Sweet, 374 S.C. 1, 5, 647 S.E.2d 202, 205 (2007). If an error is not presented to and ruled upon by the trial judge, it cannot be raised for the

² Judge Dickson heard the motion to suppress argument and issued the order denying the motion. Judge McIntosh presided over the trial several months after the motion was denied.

first time to the appellate court. State v. Freiburger, 366 S.C. 125, 135, 620 S.E.2d 737, 742 (2005).

Merely raising an argument *in limine* does not preserve an issue for appellate review. State v. Stokes, 339 S.C. 154, 163, 528 S.E.2d 430, 434 (Ct. App. 2000). Failure to object when evidence is offered constitutes a waiver of the right to object. State v. Burton, 326 S.C. 605, 609, 486 S.E.2d 762, 764 (Ct. App. 1997); see State v. Schumpert, 312 S.C. 502, 507, 435 S.E.2d 859, 862 (1993) ("A ruling *in limine* is not a final ruling on the admissibility of evidence. Unless an objection is made at the time the evidence is offered and a final ruling made, the issue is not preserved for review." (citations omitted)). Unless a contemporaneous objection is made at the time evidence is offered and a final ruling obtained, the issue is not preserved for further review. State v. Mueller, 319 S.C. 266, 268, 460 S.E.2d 409, 410 (Ct. App. 1995) ("Generally, a motion *in limine* seeks a pretrial ruling preventing the disclosure of potentially prejudicial matter to the jury. A ruling on the pre-trial motion is preliminary, and is subject to change based on developments at trial. Because the evidence developed during trial may warrant a change in the ruling, the losing party must renew his objection at trial when the evidence is presented in order to preserve the issue for appeal." (citations omitted)).

Significantly, if a party fails to properly object to an issue pursuant to our issue preservation requirements, the party is precluded from raising that issue on appeal. See State v. Johnson, 363 S.C. 53, 58-59, 609 S.E.2d 520, 523 (2005) ("If a party fails to properly object, the party is procedurally barred from raising the issue on appeal."). However, even if a party properly raises an objection during trial and the objection is ruled upon, a party may still waive his right to argue error in regard to that objection on appeal under certain circumstances. See State v. O'Neal, 210 S.C. 305, 312, 42 S.E.2d 523, 526 (1947) (recognizing a previously-raised objection can be waived). Amongst the circumstances under which waiver can occur, a party

waives an objection by indicating to the trial judge the party does not have an objection to an issue to which the party previously objected. See Burke v. AnMed Health, 393 S.C. 48, 55, 710 S.E.2d 84, 88 (Ct. App. 2011) (“When a party states to the trial court that it has no objection to the introduction of evidence, even though the party previously made a motion to exclude the evidence, the issue raised in the previous motion is not preserved for appellate review.”); State v. Dicapua, 373 S.C. 452, 455, 646 S.E.2d 150, 152 (Ct. App. 2007) (“Dicapua’s sole objection to the videotape came in the form of a motion *in limine* to suppress the videotape because of its lack of audio. Once the State moved to enter the videotape into evidence and publish it to the jury, however, Dicapua’s counsel specifically stated he had ‘no objection.’ We find this amounted to a waiver of any issue Dicapua had with the videotape.”); see also State v. Britt, 237 S.C. 293, 313, 117 S.E.2d 379, 389 (1960) (“The appellant is not in position to complain of [an exhibit’s] introduction into evidence when he expressly consented thereto[.]”), overruled on other grounds by State v. Torrence, 305 S.C. 45, 406 S.E.2d 315 (1991). Likewise, a party can waive a previously-raised objection to an issue by subsequently conceding that issue to the trial judge. See State v. Bryant, 372 S.C. 305, 315-316, 642 S.E.2d 582, 588 (2007) (recognizing an issue conceded during trial cannot subsequently be argued on appeal).

In this case, it is clear Appellant did not properly preserve this issue for review. Not only was no objection made when the drugs were offered for admission, defense counsel stated in response to the lower court asking whether he had an objection, “No objection, Your Honor.” (R. p. 286). This is fatal to Appellant’s argument. This issue not properly preserved because the lower court did not have a chance to rule upon the issue, and it was expressly waived. Therefore, this issue is not properly before this Court.

B. The search warrant affidavit contained sufficient probable cause to allow for the search of Appellant's home.

Even if this Court were to excuse the waiver and find the issue is preserved, it is without merit. The search warrant affidavit contained sufficient probable cause. The Fourth Amendment protects “[t]he right of the people to be secure in their persons, houses, papers, and effects, against unreasonable searches and seizures.” U.S. Const. amend. IV. “The touchstone of the Fourth Amendment is reasonableness.” Florida v. Jimeno, 500 U.S. 248, 250 (1991). Thus, only unreasonable searches and seizures are prohibited. State v. Foster, 269 S.C. 373, 378, 237 S.E.2d 589, 591 (1977). Generally, in order for a search to be reasonable under the Fourth Amendment, a law enforcement officer must obtain a search warrant prior to conducting the search. Robinson v. State, 407 S.C. 169, 185, 754 S.E.2d 862, 870 (2014). In South Carolina, an officer seeking to obtain a search warrant must present a sworn affidavit to a judge presenting grounds sufficient to establish probable cause in order to justify the issuance of the warrant. State v. Bellamy, 336 S.C. 140, 143, 519 S.E.2d 347, 348-349 (1999); see S.C. Code Ann. § 17-13-140 (“A warrant issued hereunder shall be issued only upon affidavit sworn to before the magistrate, municipal judicial officer, or judge of a court of record establishing the grounds for the warrant.”).

In deciding whether to issue a search warrant, the issuing judge must “make a practical, common-sense decision whether, given all the circumstances set forth in the affidavit before him, including the ‘veracity’ and ‘basis of knowledge’ of persons supplying hearsay information, there is a fair probability that contraband or evidence of a crime will be found in a particular place.” Illinois v. Gates, 462 U.S. 213, 238 (1983). The court should base its determination on the totality of circumstances and afford great deference to the issuing judge’s probable cause determination. State v. Keith, 356 S.C. 219, 223, 588 S.E.2d 145, 147 (Ct. App. 2003). “Suppression is appropriate in only a few situations, including when an affidavit is ‘so lacking in

indicia of probable cause as to render official belief in its existence entirely unreasonable.’ ” State v. Weston, 329 S.C. 287, 293, 494 S.E.2d 801, 804 (1997) (quoting United States v. Leon, 468 U.S. 897, 923 (1984)).

An affidavit supporting a warrant must set forth particular facts and circumstances underlying the existence of probable cause to allow the magistrate to make an independent evaluation of probable cause. State v. Baccus, 367 S.C. 41, 50, 625 S.E.2d 216, 221 (2006). The duty of a reviewing court is to ensure that the issuing magistrate had a substantial basis upon which to conclude that probable cause existed under the “totality-of-the-circumstances” set forth in Illinois v. Gates; Baccus, 367 S.C. at 50, 625 S.E.2d at 221.

Here, the affidavit set out the relevant facts and circumstances of the investigation which was sufficient to support the probable cause finding. Investigators received a tip that the house was receiving frequent visitors who only stayed for a short period of time. (R. p. 577). See United States v. Cavazos, 288 F.3d 706, 708 (5th Cir. 2002) (finding, among other things, the observation of twenty to twenty five people coming and going from the residence in a two and a half hour period as evidence giving rise to probable cause); United States v. Restrepo, 966 F.2d 964, 966-67 (5th Cir. 1992) (citing confidential tip and neighbor's information that a number of different cars pulled into the garage of the residence and then left, among other facts, as evidence creating probable cause for the warrant). There was a reasonable basis to believe that drugs would be found inside the house because drugs were already found in the house's trash can. See California v. Greenwood, 486 U.S. 35, 40-41, 108 S. Ct. 1625 (1988) (holding that defendants do not have an expectation of privacy in trash left for collection along a public street). In State v. Keith, the supreme court ruled that the evaluation of probable cause is based on a common sense determination of the totality of the circumstances. 356 S.C. 219, 225, 588 S.E.2d 145, 148. The

supreme court correctly explained: “In the case of drug dealers, evidence is likely to be found where the dealers live.” Id. (citing United States v. Angulo-Lopez, 791 F.2d 1394, 1399 (9th Cir. 1986); State v. Scott, 303 S.C. 360, 362, 400 S.E.2d 784, 786 (Ct. App. 1991)).

There was certainly a substantial probability that drugs and contraband were present in the house since drugs were discarded in the trash can only three days beforehand. (R. p. 577). Appellant seems to argue that since the drugs and paraphernalia were discarded that it was erroneous to believe there would be more drugs or evidence of drug dealing in the house. Considering that drugs and paraphernalia were found in the trash can and that witnesses noted the frequent short term traffic in and out of the house, there was sufficient information set forth to support the magistrate’s finding of probable cause. See Kaley v. United States, 571 U.S. 320, 337, 134 S. Ct. 1090, 1103 (2014) (recognizing probable cause “is not a high bar”).

Furthermore, even if this Court were to find the lower court erred, nevertheless the good faith exception to the warrant requirement applies. Law enforcement acted in objective good faith reliance upon the order that was issued. “Where the alleged Fourth Amendment violation involves a search or seizure pursuant to a warrant, the fact that a neutral magistrate has issued a warrant is the clearest indication that the officers acted in an objectively reasonable manner or, as we have sometimes put it, in “objective good faith.” [Leon, 468 U.S. at 922–923].” Messerschmidt v. Millender, 565 U.S. 535, 535, 132 S. Ct. 1235, 1245 (2012).

The Supreme Court determined the exclusionary rule should only “rarely” be applied to cases where officers reasonably relied upon subsequently-invalidated search warrants. Leon, 468 U.S., at 926. Specifically, the Supreme Court concluded suppression of evidence based on a subsequently-invalidated search warrant was only appropriate in four limited situations: (1) where the affiant misled the issuing judge by including false or misleading information in the

search warrant affidavit; (2) where the issuing judge wholly abandoned his neutral and detached judicial role; (3) where the search warrant affidavit was “ ‘so lacking in indicia of probable cause as to render official belief in its existence entirely unreasonable[;]’ ” and (4) when a search warrant was so facially deficient in some technical respect the officer executing that warrant could not reasonably have presumed it to be valid. *Id.* at 923 (citation omitted). None of these factors are present here. Appellant argues the affidavit lacked any indicia of probable cause to believe that drugs or contraband would be found in the house. (IBOA, p. 14). The tip that the house received frequent visitors and that several items commonly used to packaged and sell drugs and the fact that actual drugs were found in the trash pull suggests that drugs were being sold out of the house. Thus, the good faith doctrine should apply.

II.

The probative value of Appellant’s statement made to the lead investigator, Sawyer, was not substantially outweighed by the danger of unfair prejudice.

Appellant argues the lower court erred by admitting a statement made by Appellant directed towards Sawyer during the execution of the search warrant. Specifically, he argues the lower court erred in finding the statement was not the equivalent of a prior bad act. He also argues the statement’s probative value was substantially outweighed by the danger of unfair prejudice.

How the Issue Was Raised Below

A pretrial Jackson v. Denno³ hearing was held to determine whether Appellant’s statement was made voluntarily. (R. p. 38-60). Sawyer testified at the hearing that Appellant stated, “Sawyer, Sawyer, I need to talk to you.” (R. p. 48). Appellant was detained at the time and his statement was not made in response to any questioning. (R. p. 47-48). The lower court

³ 378 U.S. 368 (1964).

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